# HISTORY

OF

# BROOME COUNTY

WITH ILLUSTRATIONS AND BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES OF SOME OF ITS PROMINENT MEN AND PIONEERS

EDITED BY

H. P. SMITH

ретвојт. Мјон. - 000121891

SYRACUSE, N. Y.
D. MASON & CO., PUBLISHERS
1885

## CONTENTS.

CHAPTER I. — From the Discovery to 1683 Exploration and Settlement of the Atlantic Coast and the Hudson River — Claims of Different Nations to First Discovery — The Voyage of Columbus -Foundation of the Claims of England and France - Dutch Settlements and their Commercial Enterprise -The Dutch West India Company and its Grants - Unpopular Directors and their Policies -- A Wholesale Grant to the Duke of York and its Consequences — The Dutch Regain their Possessions — The Peace of 1674 — The English Again in Power— Governor Dongan and the First Assembly-New York at the Head in CHAPTER II. - The Iroqueis - Origin of the Name "Iroquois" - " The People of the Long House" - Peculiarities of the Iroquois League — The Clan Sys-

CHAPTER III. — The French, English and Iroquois — The French and the Adirondacks in their First Encounter with the Iroquois — Effect of Fire-Arms — Champlain's Defeat by the Onondagas — The Iroquois and the Hurons — Conquests by the Five Nations — French and English Rivalry — Courcelles's Expedition — The Peace of

Breda — French and Iroquois again at War - De Nonville's Advent — His Vigorous Action — Attempts of the English to Share the Fur Trade — A Treacherous Deed — Early New York Government — New England against the French — Failures — English Aliiance with the Iroquois — Count De Frontenac's Efforts at Coercion — Civil Affairs — Treaty of Utrecht — The Six Nations — George Clinton Arrives, . .

CHAPTER IV. — From 1744 to 1770 — The War of 1744 between England and France — Operations against Louisberg - Its Capitulation - Defense of the Colonies - Expedition against Canada — A Brief Peace — Contention between Governor and Assembly— Further Encroachments of the French - Convention of Colonial Delegates -A Treaty with the Six Nations-Expeditions of the English Against the French - Johnson's Success - The French Commander Mortally Wounded -- Change of Governor -- Declaration of War - A Vigorous Campaign Resolved Upon - Imbecility of Lord Loudon and General Abertrouble -Fall of Oswego - William Pitt's Administration - A Turn in the Tide -English Success -- Surrender of Louisberg - Failure of Ticonderoga - Fort Du Quesne Taken — Another Vigorous Campaiga -Fall of Fort Niagara, Ticonderoga and Crown Point - Quebcc Surrendered to the English-General Amherst Takes Montreal— Boundary Disputes — Territorial Difficuities of the Indians - The "Property Line",....

23

PAGE: 1

CHAPTER V.—From 1770 to the Revolution -Approaching Trouble -- Dissatisfaction of the Colonists -- Writs of Assistance - - Appeals to Parliament -The Stamp Act -- New York a Bitter Opponent of the Measure - Further Petitions to Parliament - The Stamped Paper Seized --- Arrival of a New Governor - Repeal of the Act - Conflict between the Citizens and the Soldiery-Further Objectionable Parliamentary Legislation - Duties on Tea, Glass, Lead, Paper, etc. - Retaliation through the Non-Importation Agreement - The "Liberty Pole" Troubles -Arrest of Soldiers - First Bloodshed in the Revolution -- Lord Danmore as Governor - Discrimination against the Colonists in the Importation of Tea- The Sons of Liberty Destroy the Cargoes - The New Hampshire Grants — Ethan Allen and His Proclamation - The Boston Port Bill — Congress Convened — Last Adjournment of the Assembly - Lexington - Excitement throughout the Col-

nics - Opening of the Revolution . . . . CHAPTER VI.- New York During the Rev-Iution - The Revolutionary Struggle - Policy of the Indians - Their Al-Hance with Great Britain - Influence of the Johnsons -- Ethan Allen at Ticonderoga and Crown Point - Washington Establishes Liis Headquarters in New York City -The Battle of Long Island - Evacuation of the City -Gen. Gates at Ticonderoga - Eugagement on Lake Champlain - Approval of the Declaration of Independence - The Constitutional Convention - The First Governor Under the New Constitution - The Campaign of 1777 -- Burgoyne's Capture of Ticonderoga -- St. Leger's Expedition --Battle of Bennington -- Engagement at Wilber's Basin - Burgoyne's Apprehensions — A. Fatal Delay — Hemmed in - Surrender of Burgoyne -Clinton's Hudson River Campaign — French Sympathy for America - She Acknowledges the Independence of the United States.....

CHAPTER VII. — The Indians During the Revolution — Progress of the Revolu-

tion - Attitude of the Six Nations -Joseph Brant - Gathering of the Indians within the Limits of the Present Broome County - Visit of John Harper to the Indians -- Movements of Brant and His Watriors - Anniety of Settlers — Interview between Brant and General Herkimer - Brant Joins the Forces of Sir John Johnson - Brant in the Battle of Oriskany -Raising of the Siege of Fort Schuyler -Invasion of the Mohawk Valley by Indians - Destruction of Springfield -Battle of Wyoming - Plan for the Destruction of Cherry Valley --- Brant and Butler - The Village Destroyed - Suffering of the Inhabitants - The Onondagas Punished -- Further Hostilities by the Indians-A Battle on the Delaware - Critelties of the Indians — Brant Justifies His Acts — Approaching Retribution.....

CHAPTER VIII.-Close of Indian Troubles-The Sulfivan Campaign - - Rendezvous of the Two Divisions - Action of the Neutral Indians and its Cause -- Clintoa's Operations on Otsego Lake-The Indians Appalled at His Fleet and the Unexpected Flood -A Detachment from Sullivan - Their Trials and Sufferings - Clinton's Progress Down the River - Skirmishes with the Indians within the Limits of Broome County — Cannon Balis Found Near Binghamton - Remains of an Indian Fortification - Junction of Clinton and Sullivan's Armies - The Batile of Newtown - Destruction of Indian Villages - Return of the Expedition - Indian Depredations in the Mohawk Valley - Capture of Colonel Harper and Companions - Their Escape from Death + Arnold's Treason and its Exposure - The Campaign of 1781 - Revolt of the Militia -- Brant and His Warriors Again in the Mohawk Vailey -- Colonel Willett's Example - The Last Incursion of the Indians -- Surrender of Cornwallis --End of the War -- Treaties of Peace - Destiny of the Six Nations. . . . . . .

OHAPTER IX. — The Indians in Broome
County — The Era of Peace — Establishment of the Seat of the General

PAGE.

45

PAGE.

Government in New York City — Adjustment of the New Hampshire Grant Troubles - Indian Troubles on the Western Frontier — Indian Occupation of the Territory of Broome Counsy. The Lenapes -- Boundaries of Indian Lands -- Conquest of the Delawares by the Iroquois - Their Posttion Finally Regained - Evidences of Indian Occupation in the Town of Windson — Characteristics of the Indians Found by the First Settlers in the County — A Cheap Land Lease — Castle Farm and its Inhabitants — Their Dress, Wigwams and Habits— " 'Squire Antonio" - Relations of the Early Settlers and the Indians-Rare Instances of Trouble between Them — Incidents — Mrs. Rose and Her Unwelcome Visitor—Mr. Bevier's Encounter with an Intoxicated Indian Strile Among the Whites to Obtain Possession of the Indians' Lands — The Castle Farm Sold for a Gun --Abraham Antonio's Revenge on the Purchaser — Anecdotes....

CHAPTER X. - Early Settlements — First Permanent Settlement — The Massachusetts Company — They are Granted

of the Tract with the Military Tract—
The Company's Commissioners to Secure the Indian Title — Customary
Methods of Dealing with the Indians
— The Purchase Concluded — The
Price Paid — Indian Custom of Clearing Land — Lack of Early Roads—
The Route from New England to
Broome County—Struggles and Hard-

the "Boston Ten Towns" - Conflict

ins—Their Meagre Furnishing—A House-Raising — Wild Animals — Going to Mill Under Difficulties — Erection of the First Mills — Freshets and Famine — Sufferings of the Settlers — Major Stow's Journey to Mill

ships of Pioneers — Building Log Cab-

— A Feast of Thanksgiving — Pleasant Aspects of Pioneer Life — Early Productions of the County — Scarcity of Money — A Providential Source of Income — The Manufacture and Sale

of "Black Salts" --- Other Industries — Freighting on the Rivers — Manufacture and Consumption of Whiskey. CHAPTER XI. - Internal Improvements -

Opening of Early Roads — Turnpike Companies —Their Character and Objects — The Unadilia Turnpike Company — Route of its Road — The Salina and Chenango Tumpike Company Names of the Corporators — Other Tumpike Companies — Early Navigution of the Susquehanna and Chenango Rivers - Legislation in Relation thereto — Incorporation of Navigation Companies — Canal Construction and its Results - Surveys for Projected Canals into and through Broome County - Description of the Chenango Canal - Beneficial Results to Broome County — The Canal Extended to Owego — The Rock-Bottom Dam --Railroad Competition with the Canal Names of Collectors of Canal Tolls at Binghamton — Railroad Construction — Early Corporations — The New York and Erie Railroad — History of the Inception of the Great Undertaking - Delays and Discouragements -Vexed Questions as to the Route — Final Adjustment - Aid from the Legislature - Opening of the First Section - Dates of Opening of other Divisions of the Road — Benefits Derived - Extensions - The Syracuse and Binghamton Railroad - Details of its Construction - Its Failure and Sale — A New Company Formed — Benefits Derived - The Albany and Susquehanna Railroad - It War with the Erie — Other Roads.....

CHAPTER XII. - Divisions and Titles —
Early Divisions of the State — Susquehanna Documents — Extinguishment
of Indian Titles — Formation of the
County — Land Patents — Massachu-

Setts' Claims The "Boston Ten Towns" — Towns, and their Boundaries.

CHAPTER NIH. — Natural Characteristics

— Topography of the County — The
Different Ridges — Valleys — Rivers
and Streams — Geology of the
County — Different Groups of Rocks

— Primitive Rocks — Relation of Geology to Agriculture — Soils of the

95

73

65

57

	TAGE.
CHAPTER XIV. — Civil List — Citizens of Broome County who have Held Official Station — Members of Congress — State Senators — Members of Assembly - Judges - County Clerks — County Treasurers — Sheriffs	Towns — Binghamton Chapter — Binghamton Council — Malta Commandery — Other Branches of the Order — Independent Order of Odd Fellows — Other Secret Societies and Benefit Organizations
Efforts Established the Institution— Objects and Statistics—County Farm, Alms-House and Insane Asylum— Statistics	the Tented Field—Premonition of Death—Colonel Slocum—Reception of Companies
CHAPTER XVI The Bench and Bar of  Broome County - Old Judicial Sys- tems - The Courts of the State Changes in the System - First Judicial Officers of Broome County - Sub-	CHAPTER XX.—History of the Town of Binghamton
sequent Appointments - First Trials  - Hon, William B. Stuart - Counsel in Numerous Cases - Early Lawyers of the County - The Present Bench and Bar - Justices of the Supreme Court - Personal Notes	CHAPTER XXII History of the Town of Windsor
CHAPTER XVII The Medical Profession in Broome County - Organization of the Broome County Medical Society - Minutes of Organization Meetings	Colesville
<ul> <li>Chronological List of Members—         Presidents of the Society — Early Physicians — The Code of Ethics — The         Binghamton Academy of Medicine—             United States Examining Surgéons—      </li> </ul>	CHAPTER XXVI. — History of the Town of Barker
The Homoropathic Medical Society— Binghamton Homospathic Medical Association	CHAPTER XXVIII.—History of the Town of Nanticoke
<ul> <li>The First Officers — First Place of Meeting — Removal to Binghamton — Changes of Officers — Change of Name of Lodge — An Anti-Mason's Assault — The Second Lodge - List of the Masters - Lodges in the Different</li> </ul>	CHAPTER XXXI. — History of the Town of Fenton

CHAPTER XXXIII History of the Town	PAGE. CHAPTER XXXV. — History of the Town of
of Conklin	Maine
CHAPTER XXXIV.—History of the Town	CHAPTER XXXVI. — Biographical 505

### ILLUSTRATIONS.

PAGE.	PAGE.
Allen, S. P., M.D., portrait	Lockwood, Rev. Peter, portraitfacing 232
Barlow, Allen, portraitfacing 536	McKinney, Charles, portrait
Brown, Captain Parley M., portraitfacing 386	Mercereau, Job L., portrait
Butler, William, M.D., portrait facing 498	Mersereau, Major David, portrait facing 434
Chapman, O. W., portrait facing 130	Moore, John, portraitfacing 530
Chenango Point, Map of, in 1797 198	Parsons, C. H., portrait facing 364
Curtis, John C., portrait	Quick, S. P., portrait
Dwight, Walton, portrait	Rouse, Joel, portraitfacing 370
Eldredge, Colonel Milo B., portraitfacing 366	Safford, L. T., portrait
French, S. H., M.D., portrait facing 410	Sanford, Mrs. Louisa, portraitfacing 526
Harrington, S. H., portraitfacing 390	Sanford, Seymour, portraitfacing 354
High School Building, Binghamton 228	Seymour, Lewis, portraitfacing 118
Hourigan, Rev. Father James Francis,	Smith, Hon. F. B., portraitfacing 422
portraitfacing 542	Stillson, A. B., portrait facing 290
Hyde, Colonel John, portraitfacing 378	Taylor, Rev. C. E., portraitfacing 346
Johnson, James W., portrait	•

### BIOGRAPHICAL.

T. 477	
PAGE.	
Allen, Solomon P., M.D 506	Chapman, Orlow W 530
Barlow, Allen 537	Curtis, John C 523
Brown, Captain Parley M 529	Dwight, Walton 522
Butler, William, M.D., 535	l
Butier, William Morris	· · ·

PACE.	PAGE.
Harrington, S. H., M.D	Quick, Simon P
Moore, John 530	Taylor, Rev. C. E



eighteen days. The families, therefore, dug up the potatoes which had been planted, I two miles east of the present village of Triand subsisted on them and a little meal ( angle, by Nathaniel Hays, grandfather of until the men returned. We were often i the present Nathaniel Hays, and the locality without salt, and would 'jerk' our venison My father took General and eat it fresh. Patterson's white horse and went to Salina (now Syracuse) and got two and a half bushels of salt, and brought it home in bags on the horse's back, he walking. Reaching the other side of the State bridge (Cortland county), and it becoming dark, he was unable to find his way by the 'blazed' The wolves surrounded him and he was forced to climb a tree, where he remained until the brutes went away. then came down and made a pillow of the salt bags on which he passed the remainder of the night as best he could."

The first preacher remembered by Mr. Olmstead was Rev. Seth Williston, who preached in a log house at Asa Whitney's, about a mile up the creek from Triangle village. Land then sold at ten shillings an acre. Ashbel Olmstead died October 6th, 1847, aged eighty-four years.

The scarcity of salt in this vicinity in early times, and the difficulty of getting it, was a cause of great inconvenience to the settlers, and led to efforts for the discovery of the salt springs or wells where, it was well known, the Indians obtained quantities The Indians had of the valuable article. told Mr. Barker (the first settler in the town of that name) that they would go to "Salt | Point" for their salt; but they were sure to go at night and return the next day with their camp kettle full (some eight or ten quarts), and it was said to be warm on some occasions upon their return. But the whites never learned where the Indians obtained their salt, although extraordinary efforts were made to do so, further details of which will be found in the history of the town of Barker.

A settlement was made very early about was known for many years as " Hays's Settlement." Four of his sons also came and a few other families at about the same time. They huilt a school-house, and the children from where the village of Triangle is now situated and the surrounding vicinity attended school there. Meetings were held there by a Deacon Spencer and the Rev. Henry Ford came there to preach occasion-A Methodist class was also formed at an early day. Benjamin Jackson was one of the settlers there and his house was used as a place for religious meetings for many By a subsequent change of the town line, this locality was thrown into Chenaugo county. In course of time the business center became fixed at the site of Triangle village. Benjamin Gibbs was probably the first settler here; he was a blacksmith and had a shop where that of Charles Love now stands. Gibbs remained but a few years. Woodruff, father of the late Rev. Jeremiah Woodruff, came here early and settled about half a mile south of the village. David Gibbs, a brother of Benjamin, and a carpenter, located at an early day a little east of the center of the village; he subsequently went to Genesce county, where he died. Timothy Clark came in and lived on what was long known as the Guy E. Baker estate; he became quite prominent and was a justice of the peace. His brother, David Clark, commonly known as Colonel Clark, came about the same time and built where the widow of R. E. Hall lived until recently. He started the tannery lately owned by Nathaniel Hays, and also built the first tavern in the place; it swood a little west of the site of the present hotel, and has been changed into a private dwelling, occupied by G. G. Saxton. Colonel Clark sold out and went to Greene, where he | died. These two brothers originally owned all of the land on which the village now stands and considerable surrounding—some 700 or 800 acres. The place was first called "Clark's Settlement;" afterward "Clark's Corners."

Levi Woodruff, a brother of Andrew Woodruff, already mentioned, settled early nearly opposite of where the Congregational Church now stands. He sold to William Simmons, who came from Duchess county, went to Michigan and there cled.

Dr. Edwards lived for a number of years near the Jackson cemetery, and was the first physician in the place. He subsequently went to live with his son about a mile north of the village, where he died.

George Beckwith was an early settler and was land agent for Peter Smith, father of the late Gerrit Smith. He built the house with a brick basement on the corner, in which he kept a small store, which was at \ that time a great convenience to the inhab-He was a prominent and respected citizen and died here.

The house now occupied by H. B. Simmons was built by Ira Slater for a tavern and kept as such by him for a number of years. He died with delirium tremens. He was followed on the premises by Robert Cook, who also kept a tavern a short time, and then sold to William 'Simmons, and he to the present owner.

Elisha Boyington came here probably as early as 1811; he was a native of Connecticut and came first to Otsego county, whence he went into St. Lawrence county, and then settled about a mile northwest from Triangle village, on West brook. He brought four children with him, the family coming on an ox sled. They had eight | sion of A. B. McGee. He was followed by children after coming here, lived to an old : Samuel Terry, who built a small grist-mill age and died much respected; he in 1851 and she in 1866,

Asa Whitney was one of the first settlers and located on the lands which have gone to form the farms of A. and A. Whitney, his grandsons, O. Eggleston and L. Page.

Asa Taft, sen., came here from Scho-> harie county in 1807, having removed to that county from Massachusetts in 1804. He took up a farm of two hundred acres, where he lived until his death, which occurred in 1839, at the age of sixty-five years. His son, John W., followed birn on the homestead. It passed from his possession to that of Graves Collins, then to a Mr. Carpenter and then to W. Jackson; it is now owned by the heirs of the latter.

John Parker, who was a soldier of the Revolutionary War for seven years, came from Litchfield, Conn., in 1806 or 1807, bringing with him ten children, equally divided between the sexes. Thomas, the youngest son, occupies the homestead. Mr. Parket died October 24th, 1831, at the age of sixty-nine years, and his wife June 28th, 1836, aged seventy years; both were buried at "Hazard's Corners."

Hazard's Corners took its name from Edmund Hazard, who settled early where his son John now lives. He became a prominent man; was supervisor of the town and a leading citizen.

Other comparatively early settlers in this vicinity, as chronicled by Mr. Taylor, may be grouped as follows: The farm formerly owned by Hamilton Boyington is now occupied by Dewitt Brown. John Brewer and Dewitt Brewer occupied it for a time. A Mr. Black formerly occupied the farm where Mrs. Aikins now lives; he was followed on the place by Major Enos Warner, and he by a Mr. Meeker. Jared Taft was an early owner of the farm now in possesthere. Samuel Ticknor first settled where his sons George and Samuel now live. where O. D. Gray afterward lived for many | Hatch, who sold to Mr. Reardslee. years. What was for many years known as the Slater farm was formerly occupied by Mr. Slater and then by his son Milo. The present owner, L. Conro, bought of him. The former Luman Olmsted farm is the one now owned by J. Eggieston. E. Hall lives on a part of the farm formerly owned by his father, Reuben Hall, already mentioned. Francis Clough was among the early settlers and owned the farm afterward occupied by his son, F. Clough, D. S. Whitney lives on what was for many years a part of the Beckwith estate. It was originally settled by a man named Harrison. H. M. Edwards owns the farm which was originally a portion of lands owned by Timothy Clark, before alluded to. A. Sweetland lives where Reuben Chase formerly did. S. Sanford, a son of an early settler, lives on the homestead, a portion of which is occupied by G. W. Sanford. Joseph Covey was among the early settlers. Hope Covey formerly lived where Gilbert Brown now resides, and John Covey lived where C. Taft now does. Erasmus Ballard came here quite early and died here, being succeeded by his sons Dwight and Harlow, Daniel Covey, a son of Hope, lived where J. P. Beckwith now does; he went to Iowa. A union meeting-house stands in this vicinity. Some of the other pioneers in this region will be mentioned in the history of Triangle village:

If we now turn from the river road at the Dorchester burying ground and pass up what is known as the Page Brook road, we come to the farm of John Green. father was Elon Green, who came from near Rhinebeck to Binghamton in 1792 and He died in settled on this farm in 1804. 1851 at the age of seventy-seven years.

Anson Dickinson settled at an early day where Bennett Beardslee now lives. He | drew Baker, his son. Another son, Cyros

Reuben Hall came in early and settled I died there and was succeeded by Reuben

George Ashby located quite early where He afterward A. B. Dodge now lives. went west.

Orrin Dickinson formerly lived where the residence of R. B. Arnold now stands. Alec. Runney once lived where A. Hodges now resides. He was followed by Hadsell Johnson, who sold to Benjamin Hodges, father of the present owner. Jacent JTall lived at an early day where R. D. Page now lives. He came from Connecticut and was an early school-teacher. Solomon Page bought the farm and he went to Greene village; the property has belonged to its present owner many years. Stephen Bronson came from Connecticut among the first settlers in this locality and located where Renben Hall lived, and died a few years ago. Timothy Bidwell bought from Bronson and sold to Mr. Hail. A part of the tract of land was formerly owned by Titus Page, who was also an early settler.

Going directly north and passing the school-house, the first farm is that originally owned by the first settler, John Page, who came from Litchfield, Conn., with his father when very young.

Turning west from the school-house of Page Brook, one passes first the house of Frank Hall, who owns one-half of the farm bought by his father. Nearly opposite fived the late J. G. Spencer, and a little farther on is the dairy farm of Miner Howland. Turning east from the school-house Cyrus Page lives on the right. His father was Solomon Page, who bought land of different persons, and his son purchased from him. Next is the farm first settled by B. Alton, which passed through numerous hands to its present owner, C. S. Tillson. On the next farm Joshua Baker settled in 1804; the farm is now occupied by An-

Mr. Fuller's land was enty years ago. bounded on the west by the Thomas Whitney estate; the Jerry Rogers farm was also a part of the original Thomas Whitney lands."

Passing on east, one comes to the Rogers estate, which was first settled in 1808 by Captain Nathaniel Rogers, who came then from Delaware county. He built a log house directly south of the house where Deacon Shuart lived, on the bank of a small creek. The old road ran for a number of years along the bank of that little stream. ter the Catskill and Ithaca turnpike was opened on the present line, he built another log house directly south across the road from where his grandson, Earlman Rogers's house now stands. Nathaniel Rogers brought his family with him; he had twelve children, but six died in youth. When the War of 1812 began he went into the service of his country and was honored with a captain's commission. He died in 1857, at the age of eighty-six years. Earlman Rogers took a part of the original homestead and built the house afterward occupied by A. C. Robinson, in 1828. He had six children, some of whom still live in the town.

Captain Amos Johnson, a native of Westfield, Conn., came when young to Charles river, where he afterward engaged in business, and married Martha Carley; this event occurred in February, 1802. About the year 1807 he came to this town with his wife and three children. He brought his goods on an ox sled. He first built a log house where the dwelling recently occupied by his son Charles stands; later he built a frame house about twelve rods north on the opposite side of the road, where he lived for descendants, and is a quaint document. It cass Hart; the present house was built in

was signed and sealed in presence of Robert Moneli, by Hornby's attorney, John Greig, and is dated October 7th, 1812. Hornby's patent embraced 90,000 acres, and extended as far east as the Chenango river. Mr. Johnson paid \$3 an acre for his land. He was not only one of the first settlers on the hill, but a man of great industry, and worked a large contract on the old turnpike. This latter fact is proof of the error in French's Gazetteer of the State that the turnpike was finished in 1796. Luman Olmstead, who was born in 1792, worked for Captain Johnson on the turnpike, which must have been at a date considerably later than 1796. It is possible that a portion of the turnpike was finished toward the eastern end and opened as early as the date given in the Gazetteer, but the entire line was probably not traveled before 1810 or 1812. Captain Johnson lost all of his means in his turnpike contract and was compelled to begin life again in poverty. He had eleven children, some of whom now live in the town. Captain Johnson died September 24th, 1849; his wife January 28th, 1862.

Marcus Hart was one of the first, perhaps the very first settler on the hill, and lived in a log house which stood on the south side of the road near the corners. He set out the orchard now owned by Charles Johnson. As his death approached he made a special request to be buried between two of the apple trees, which was fulfilled. Deacon William G. Shuart came to this locality in 1835 and bought forty-eight acres of Samuel Clark and Samuel, jr., and forty acres from Marcus Hart, just alluded to. It is believed that Hezekiah Austin first owned more than thirty years, when the present i the Clark property. The two Clarks menhouse was built. The deed by which Mr. I tioned went to Michigan and died there. Johnson obtained this land from John Horn- ; The old house standing back of Deacon by, of England, is still in possession of his! Shuart's present dwelling was built by Mar-

The old barn back of the old house has stood for many years, and was once used by the carly stage drivers for an exchange stable. For many years a four-horse daily stage passed here each way.

Captain Daniel Saxton was a native of Smithtown, L. J., and came here in 1823. He settled on the turnpike where his son Henry H. lived. A man named Swift formerly owned the property at an early day, and afterward John Johnson owned it. Saxton bought of him. He brought with him a family of ten children, and twin boys were born to them after their arrival; Henry H, was one of them.

Hasting Martin lived on the turnpike directly west from Mr. Saxton's, where Stephen Webb now lives. He was killed by a log rolling over him.

Leonard Rose lived in a house which is: still standing, near Mr. Martin's. The turnpike was changed at this point many years ago, to better accommodate Whitney's Point and also avoid the steep hill. Before this was done, Mr. Leonard kept a tavern. Mr. Rose was succeeded by a man named Hard, who subsequently left home and has never since been heard from.

Albert Seymour settled early where his son Fred now lives. Directly north of Mr. Seymour's lived the four families of Stephen Austin, Solomon Page, P. Bliss and S. Alexander. These were one after another bought out by Dr. H. Hemingway and the lands consolidated into one large and valu-Samuel Willard owned a able dairy farm. portion of this tract at a very early day.

Robert Austin lived where the late  $G,\,W,\,\,\cdot\,\,$ Mitchell lived and died as early as 1823. Mr. Mitchell bought the property of Captain Hawley more than thirty years ago. It is now occupied by his son-in-law, P. O. I suicide by throwing herself into a well. Tower.

property. He came from Burlington, Conn., and sold to Eben Bliss and he to his brother. Robert about 1833. Robert was succeeded by his son Frank, who died recently.

Coming back to the corners on the new turnpike we find, a few rods east, the school-house. A log school-house was built here very early, on the opposite side of the highway. Here a school was taught and meetings held. Elder Levi Holcomb, a Baptist minister, preached there occasionally and accomplished much good. Among the early school teachers was Willian Johnson, who is remembered as a very good and Miss Whitmarsh, who afteruseful man. ward married the late Earlman Rogers, also taught there.

A. C. Woodruff built the house now occupied by David Brown, in 1828. bought of Samuel McKay and sold to Elon Scott in 1848; it passed through other hands before the present owner secured it. Just east of this place there was formerly a log house, which was built by Timothy. Woodruff, who came from Burlington, Conn., and died in the house as early as 1816. He was succeeded by Wooster B. Woodruff, who sold to Phineas Ball, went to Michigan and died there. Different owners have had the property since then.

A man by the name of David Fuller first took up the land where P. McGary now lives. He is remembered as a man of exalted piety. His widow married Nathan Webb.

Samuel Brockway settled early where the late David Ticknor died; the house stood a little west from the site of the present dwelling. Mr. Ticknor died nearly twenty years ago; and his widow some years after became deranged and committed few months after this calamity the youngest Samuel McKay settled probably as early ! daughter was burned so that she died, her as 1815 on what was long known as the Bliss | clothing having taken fire while she was

the Starkey farm, on the west side of the road; but when the present cometery was i opened many of the remains were taken up and placed in the new inclosure; the others! Bradt kept a public house. were left and the land plowed over. The first burial in the new correctory was the Universalist, 1830. wife of Samuel Terry, in 1818.

Deacon Ephraim Hodge settled on the east side of the road joining the Starkey farm; he came from Butternuts in 1807, and had been a Revolutionary soldier; he died in December, 1849.

The first bridge near Upper Lisle crossed the river at Levi Dewey's south line, where a road crossed the river. What was then called the new bridge, at the Corners, was built in 1807, and stood a little above the site of the present bridge. John Storms built it as a toll-bridge, but it was subsequently made free. Isaac Terry and Elijah Hatch operated a plow-factory for some years, long ago, at the north end of the bridge, Terry running the foundry and Hatch doing the wood work.

George P. Elliott built, the first store in Upper Lisle soon after (800; the storeroom was in front and living apartments in rear. In 1812 Dr. Todd came and built a His clerk store on the southwest corner. was Thomas Gazelay. About two years afterward his wife died and he closed his store and returned to Bainbridge. After the kipse of about two years more he was again married, returned to Upper Lisle and opened his store. Herbert Coburn was his Meanwhile Mr. Elliott. clerk at this time. had moved away. Harry Green kept store here at an early date. One of these stores stood about opposite the present tavern; one where the blacksmith shop is and one opposite the tavern on the south.

Henry Van Vliet, a brother-in-law of Conrad Sharp, came here at about the same time with Mr. Sharp. He worked in the | camping-place a little above where Hen-

buried in early days on the south part of a mill for a time and later kept a tavern where the house of the late John Burghardt, sen., stands. On the site now occupied by the tavern of L. B. Elliott a Mr.

The first church erected here was the

The first blacksmiths in the place were Timothy Bradley and a Mr. Catew; the shop was on the west side of the river. Mr. Bradley built the first house between Noah Rogers's and the bridge. Julius Bragg bought them out and he was suc-Isaac Terry, above cceded by Mr. Cross. mentioned, and his brother John followed in the business. Their father, lived near them.

In 1814 John Hinman built a house below Mr. Elliott's store, north of the Cor-His brother Samuel had a distillery in the field cast of the house.

The first school-house was a few rods north of the bridge on the flat, on the west side of the river. Chauncey and John B. Rogers boarded one winter with their uncle, Noah Rogers, and went to school in that house; the high water took the bridge away and the school was discontinued. The next school-house was built on the northwest corner, cast side of the river, where the hotel has since stood. In 1815 the district was divided, a school-house put on Noah Rogers's farm, a little east of where Abram Rogers afterward lived and died.

In 1810 James Stoddard, of Lisle, father of William and George Stoddard, taught the winter school; Henry Coburn next and Jonas Billings next (L. B. Eiliott's grandfather). Miss Rachel Beckwith the summer school, six summers; she was from Clark's Settlement.

In early days the Indians came to this region every winter to hunt. They had a The old tumpike passed here and there was formerly a tell-gate a short distance east of the site of the village. Samuel Wiswell kept this gate for many years and was blessed and cursed indiscriminately, as such functionaries are apt to be, no matter how faithful and accommodating.

Comfort Jackson was one of the early settlers at this point. He came from Connecticut and lived to be about one hundred years old. He located on what was long known as the Peter Johnson farm. His descendants still live in the vicinity.

Messrs. Almsbury and Boyd formerly owned where William L. Taber lives. This farm was in possession of members of the Hays family or their descendants for about seventy years.

Nehemiah Spencer was an early settler and lived where Benjamin Lewis does now. He is remembered as a staid and upright deacon of the Presbyterian Church and held meetings and taught school a little east of the village, before they were instituted in the village.

Jonas Standish located early where Isaac Taft lives; and Lewis Beman lived for a time on what was known as the Beman estate.

- Julius Spencer was a basket, maker who lived many years ago where R. Barnard recently owned.

West of the village is what was originally the Colonel Clark farm. South is the residence of O. Eggleston and that of G. Dunkil on the opposite side of the road. Adjoining is the parsonage of the Congregational Church, the land for which was presented to the society by Miss Beckwith, sister of George Beckwith. Nearly opposite is the dairy farm of S. Losee, which is a part of the A. Woodruff and T. Clark farms. Andrew Woodruff also formerly owned where G. P. Sibley lives. George Beckwith's father formerly lived where E.

Pearsali now resides. Reuben Chase, who moved into the village and died, formerly lived where A. Sweetland lives. Jonathan Sweetland was probably the first settler on the farm where William Purdy lives. Samuel Waltron also lived there a number of years and gave of his property to build the Baptist church. He removed to the West, but contracted a fever and returned East where he died. The farm where Martin Vroman lives was formerly occupied by Fred. English.

G. G. Saxton succeeded U. W. Simmons in the post-office, June 1st, 1875, and has since had the office. Mr. Saxton's father, Israel Saxton had the office two different periods, before and after the war.

The Whitney store was built by Dexter Whitney in 1851. It was sold to O. Eggleston, and M. E. Pearsall has occupied it since 1883. The other store was built by Harvey Phelps in 1865 and occupied a few years by him. He sold to Margaret Mills. It was occupied by E. W. Simmons, a number of years and then passed to G. G. Saxton, who kept it until 1882. Chandler Olmstead has kept his store since 1871. It was built many years ago and has passed through numerous hands.

The hotel was boilt by Daniel Clark and has been kept by Egbert Pearsall since 1872.

The cheese factory was built as a stock concern in 1874. The owners are Egbert Pearsall, D. S. Whitney.

Mr. Taylor has published the following history of the churches of Triangle: —

"The Congregational Church was organized by Rev. Henry Ford, September 14th, 1819. The place was then called 'Clark's Settlement.' But there had been more or less divine services held there previous to that period. The sacrament of the Lord's Supper had generally been administered by this denomination twice a year. The